1952

Ogden City v. Ferrell H. Adams : Brief of Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. During the period of March 31, 1951 to August 27, 1951, five criminal actions, each with more than one defendant, for violation of Section 46-0-237, U.C.A., 1943, were prosecuted in Weber County, State of Utah. All the evidence for said prosecutions was obtained by private investigators who were employed by and paid by Ogden City and by officers of Ogden City. At the same time these criminal prosecutions were commenced five civil proceedings to forfeit the personal property used in connection with liquor nuisances were commenced on Relation of Paul Thatcher, City Attorney of Ogden City. All said criminal and civil actions were successfully prosecuted. Substantial sums resulted in fines and forfeitures in the criminal cases.

2. All the fines and forfeitures in the criminal cases have been sent to the defendant herein and he now has the same in his possession and control.

3. The plaintiff pursuant to Section 46-0-219 obtained certificates from the judges who presided at the hearings on each of the criminal cases certifying that officers of Ogden City initiated the prosecution of each case; the evidence was obtained by and at the expense of Ogden City, and officers of Ogden City assisted in the successful prosecution of each of said cases and that all fines, forfeitures or costs paid to the defendant as a result of said prosecutions should be paid to Ogden City. The judges further certified that all fines, forfeitures and costs received by the defendant in said cases be paid to Ogden City.

4. The chairman of the Utah State Liquor Commission in writing approved the payment of all said fines, forfeitures and costs to Ogden City.

5. The judges of the court in which said criminal cases were heard before issuing the certificates mentioned in Paragraph 3 above had copies of the petition of the plaintiff for issuance of said certificates served on the District Attorney of the Second Judicial District and on the Weber County Attorney and a date was set for hearing on said petitions. No objection was made by anyone to the issuance of said certificates.

6. In addition to obtaining all the evidence and initiating all of the cases, two of the attorneys for Ogden City helped the County Attorney prepare the criminal complaints and appeared as attorneys of record in and were personally present at all of the hearings before

the magistrate. All of the defendants in three of the cases waived preliminary hearings. The defendants in two of the cases demanded and had preliminary hearings. At both said preliminary hearings two attorneys of Ogden City actively participated with the County Attorney, they questioned witnesses, looked up the law and did all other things that attorneys prosecuting criminal cases do. All of the defendants were bound over to the District Court.

7. In the District Court, the District Attorney prepared the information in all the cases. Two of the attorneys for Ogden City appeared in each of the cases in the District Court. Plaintiff's officers were present and participated in nearly all the consultations with the defendants and their counsel regarding disposition of the cases. The District Court work in these cases consisted only of arraignments, pleas and consultations. Each defendant plead guilty. There were no trials and no preparation for trials in the District Court. The real work of the cases was in obtaining the evidence, preparing the complaints handling the preliminary hearings and consulting with the defendants regarding disposition of the cases.

8. Demand has been made by plaintiff on the defendant for the remittance to it of all fines and forfeitures he has received from these five cases and the defendant refuses to make said remittance and as a result thereof this action was brought, praying for an extraordinary writ to compel remittance to plaintiff of the fines in question.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. Under the express words of Section 46-0-219, U.C.A. 1943, plaintiff is entitled to be paid the fines in defendant's hands.

2. Opinions of the Attorney General are not controlling.

3. There has been no acquiescence by the plaintiff in the administrative interpretation.

POINT 1. UNDER THE EXPRESS WORDS OF SECTION 46-0-219, U.C.A. 1943, PLAINTIFF IS ENTITLED TO BE PAID THE FINES IN DEFENDANT'S HANDS.

Said section reads as follows:

“46-0-219. *Payment Over of Fines and Forfeitures.* All fines and forfeitures levied under this act shall be paid to the state treasurer and credited to the general fund; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that in all cases where violations of this act are prosecuted to a conviction by the officer of any town, city or county the judge of the court wherein such prosecution took place shall certify to the state treasurer that such prosecution was conducted by the officers of such town, city or county, and the state treasurer, on the written approval of the chairman of the commission, shall pay to said town, city or county all amounts collected as fines, forfeitures or costs as the result of such prosecution.”

The words of statutes should be given their ordinary and usual meaning. If that is done to this section, there is no ambiguity or uncertainty except as to the meaning

of "prosecuted to conviction." In unequivocal terms the legislature has provided that upon proper certificate and consent *all* fines and forfeitures levied under the Liquor Control Act should be returned to the town, city or county in those cases where officers of such town, city of county prosecute the cases.

No distinction is made as to the court in which the prosecution takes place—the plain meaning must be that the legislature meant the statute to apply to all courts of the state, not merely as the defendant contends to city and justice of the peace courts.

The statute says "All fines and forfeitures levied under this act" the plain meaning must be the provisions apply to *all* fines and forfeitures where levied, whether for simple misdemeanors or indictable misdemeanors. The defendant agrees that the statute means what it says and applies to fines from all courts when it provides that "all" fines shall be paid over to him. However, he refuses to agree that it means what it says when it provides that "all" fines growing out of local prosecutions (without restriction as to the court of origin) shall be repaid to the local unit. In the latter case he insists, at least by implication, that "all" means only "part"—that part originating in the lower courts. And nowhere in the opinions of the Attorney General, which are hereafter considered, is any attempt made to justify this inconsistency in the meaning attributed to the same simple word. It would seem that "all" for the goose should mean "all" for the gander.

What was the purpose of Section 46-0-219? It is common knowledge that the enforcement of any liquor control act is a very difficult matter. The legislature

in that act sought to enlist and require the active assistance of all officers in this state be they state, county, city or town officers. Section 46-0-248 makes it the duty of “all *city*, county, precinct and state executive, *prosecuting* and *peace* officers” to enforce the provisions of the act and provides for other attorneys to assist the prosecuting attorney and be counsel in the case. Section 46-0-206 requires any district, county, city or town attorney or peace officer or any other person to come forward with any information they have of violation of the act.

It is apparent that the legislature recognized the difficulties of enforcement. Sections 46-0-248 and 46-0-206 make enforcement a duty of local unit. Section 46-0-219 makes it financially worthwhile. Section 46-0-219 is merely another means the legislature used to encourage the active assistance of all officers in the state to help enforce the act. It provides that in those cases where local *officers* prosecute, the returns if any from those prosecutions will go to the local governmental unit. Thus the expenses of the local governmental unit in prosecuting liquor control act violators will be in part or in whole paid and in some cases may be financially profitable. Thus the enforcement of the act will be a lesser or no burden on the local units and they will naturally be more enthusiastic about expending their money and the time and efforts of their officers in liquor control activities.

The encouragement of local enforcement has become even more important in the overall administration of the Liquor Control Act since the abolition of the Liquor

Commission's enforcement unit. Now, unless local officers are encouraged, enforcement will be routine and perfunctory in most localities, and the purpose of the law will be defeated.

The legislature makes the controlling factors in the matter of remittance of the fines and forfeitures (1) prosecution to a conviction by the officers of a town, city or county; (2) certification of that fact to the state treasurer by the judge of the court wherein such prosecution took place; (3) written approval by chairmen of the Liquor Commission of the remittance to the town, city or county of said fines and forfeitures. There are no other factors or conditions attached by the legislature. The restriction as to court of origin is a contribution from attorney general's opinions with no basis whatever in this or any other statute.

In his answer the defendant admits that conditions 2 and 3 have been compiled with but denies that condition 1 has been met. Did officers of Ogden City prosecute to conviction in the five criminal cases here involved within the meaning of Section 46-0-219?

In the ordinary indictable misdemeanor case a person with knowledge of the facts presents them to the county attorney. The county attorney issues a complaint and handles proceedings before the magistrate to have the defendant bound over to the district court. The district attorney prepares the information and handles the matter in the district court.

In the ordinary simple misdemeanor case under a state statute a person with knowledge of the facts presents them to the county attorney and the county attorney tries the case.

It must be assumed that the legislature was aware of the method for handling these matters when it enacted the Liquor Control Act. Undoubtedly the legislature did not intend to upset this orderly procedure and it intended that offenses under that act should be handled the same way as far as possible. By Sections 46-0-206, 46-0-219, 46-0-248 and other provisions the legislature made it the duty of all officers to assist in enforcement and provided for other attorneys to assist the county and district attorneys.

If the legislature intended that "prosecute to conviction" in Section 46-0-219 meant that the officers of a city or town had to issue the complaint and exclusively and without the aid or cooperation of the County or District Attorney handle the case before the magistrate and in the district court, then as a practical matter and as a legal proposition Section 46-0-219 is a nullity as far as city and towns are concerned. The orderly administration of justice requires that so long as county and district attorneys are competent, honest and actively carrying out the duties of their office that all state complaints be issued by and with the cooperation of the county attorney and all district court criminal matters be under the supervision and control of the district attorney. So if the legislature meant "prosecute to conviction" to mean exclusive initiation, control and trial by town or city officers, as a practical matter, the statute 46-0-219 was a use-

less enactment because city and town officers cannot, will not and should not undertake such proceedings on their own. The legislature must have intended "prosecute to conviction" to mean to do those acts necessary to convict and to do them within the orderly established channels for the administration of justice, that is present the evidence to the County Attorney and have complaints issued; obtain the evidence; assist the County Attorney at the arraignment and preliminary hearing before the magistrate and conduct said hearing if the county attorney desires; to conduct the trial in the district court or assist the district attorney herein. Officers of Ogden City did everything in each of the five cases here involved that could be done without ignoring the orderly channels for the administration of justice and without totally disregarding the county and the district attorneys. If it had not been for action taken by the officers of Ogden City, there would not have been any cases and there would not have been any convictions and no fines or forfeitures would have been realized.

It is to be observed in this connection that the legislature, in providing for repayment of the fines, referred to the "officers" of the local governmental unit. It did not refer to "prosecuting attorneys", although attorneys are specifically mentioned in other sections. It would seem clear from this choice of words that the legislature intended a broad interpretation of the word "prosecuted", because in the narrow sense of that word, a prosecution can be conducted before a court only by an attorney.

It is equally clear, we submit, that where local officers "made" the case, and a conviction resulted, the legislature intended those officers' local units to have the benefit of the fines. Any other interpretation defeats the obvious purpose of the law and renders many of its provisions meaningless. The legislature wanted liquor "control" for the state -- not fines, which were clearly regarded as a means to that end. See Section 46-0-44, U. S. C., 1943.

The legislature provided in 46-0-219 that the judge of the court in which the case was held should certify who or what officers prosecuted the case. In each of the five cases here involved, judges presiding, the county attorney and the district attorney recognized that Ogden City officers were responsible for all said prosecutions. No objection of any kind was made to the issuance of said certificates and the judges who knew the whole circumstances made the certificates.

The plaintiff submit that the actions of its officers in each of the five cases here involved constitute "prosecuted to conviction" as those words are used in Section 46-0-219; that the section applies to all fines and forfeitures levied under the Liquor Control Act, regardless of the court in which levied; and that there is a clear and present statutory duty resting on the treasurer to remit the fines to the plaintiff.

POINT 2. OPINIONS OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL ARE NOT CONTROLLING.

The answer of the defendant provides the opinions of the then attorney general of Utah and gives the same as the reason for non-payment of the fines here involved to the plaintiff.

The plaintiff agrees that opinions of the attorney general should be given some consideration by this court. They, however, are by no means binding on the court. The weight given an opinion of the attorney general should depend upon the soundness of the reasoning, the authorities relied upon, and the circumstances.

The opinion dated December 21, 1938, a copy of which is part of defendant's answer herein, was given in response to a request by the state auditor, in which request the auditor sets forth the answer he wanted. Said opinion answered the question in the manner desired. To point up the fallacy of that opinion, the last paragraph reads, "In my opinion it does not make any difference who does the prosecuting if the action is one brought under the state law and is in the district court". The legislature, in Section 46-0-219, provided that the test on remitting fines should be who did the prosecuting. The attorney general says who did the prosecuting makes no difference to him, that it is the fact that the prosecution is under the state law and is in the district court that is controlling. This opinion is therefore right in the teeth of the legislative enactment and should have no weight whatsoever.

The opinion of April 4, 1939, which opinion is also part of defendant's answer, makes the test the court in which the prosecution occurred and expressly rules out test supplied by the legislature.

The April 18, 1939, opinion which is part of defendant's answer maintains the test of "which court". The last paragraph of that opinion reads:

"I do not believe it was the intention of the Legislature to allow towns, cities or counties to participate in the fines and forfeitures where the prosecution was had in the district courts of the State, since any appearing in the District Court on behalf of such prosecutions would be appearing on behalf of the district attorney, and the prosecution by the said town, city or county officer would not be that prosecution as is meant by the provision that where violators of the Act are prosecuted to a conviction by the officer of any town, city or county, the State Treasurer shall pay all amounts collected as fines, forfeitures or costs as the result of such prosecution."

Assume that any appearance by an officer of a city, town or county in the district court is "an appearance on behalf of the district attorney" as the opinion says, what has that to do with the question of which unit gets the fines? The purpose of the statute was to encourage local governmental units to assist in enforcing the Liquor Control Act and to give them the fines for successful prosecutions by their officers. When district court appearances are made by city, town or county officers, they remain officers of said local units, they are paid by said local units—not by the state. They are officers of the local unit whether acting in the city court or in the district court. To say they are state officers is not only erroneous in fact, but if it follows that their employer does not

participate in the fines collected, the very purpose of 46-0-219 is defeated and the local units will not be encouraged to enforce those provisions of the Liquor Control Act which must be handled in the district courts. In the cases here concerned, regardless of the authority with which Ogden City officers were clothed to enable them to appear in the district court, they remained in fact officers of Ogden City; were paid by Ogden City and have no claim against the state for salaries. If said officers in prosecuting these cases were clothed with certain authority of district attorneys, i. e. represent the state in indictable misdemeanor cases in district court, what has that to do with the question here involved? They remained officers of Ogden City, accountable to Ogden City, paid by Ogden City, and except for their being officers of Ogden City, they would not have taken any action in any of these cases.

Even if the Attorney General were right in his opinion that "an appearance in the district court was an appearance on behalf of the district attorney", it would not follow that the local unit employing the officer so appearing should not receive the fruits of his efforts. The statute recognizes that the local servant is worthy of his hire, and as a matter of common justice, the unit that employed him to do state work should receive the benefits of that work. If city officers at the request of the legislature perform services for the state, the state should pay the city the promised consideration.

Thus we see that the opinions of the Attorney General are contrary to the purpose and express word-

ing of the statute. None of the opinions cite any authorities or precedents. It follows that said opinions are entitled to no weight whatever by this court.

POINT 3. THERE HAS BEEN NO ACQUIESCENCE BY THE PLAINTIFF IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE INTERPRETATION.

The defendant's interpretation of Section 46-0-219 and his and his predecessor's action in accordance therewith are not controlling in this case. In his memorandum of authorities, the defendant cites part of Section 319, Am. Jur. (50 Am. Jur. 309) on this question. Further down in the same section, the editors say:

“A contemporaneous construction is not, however controlling; it does not preclude an inquiry into the correctness of the construction. It is not of such high authority as a judicial interpretation of an act. It has even been declared that a contemporaneous or practical construction of a statute must be resorted to with caution and reserve. In any event, to apply the doctrine of contemporaneous or practical construction to a statute, the statute so construed must be doubtful, ambiguous, or uncertain, and the ambiguity which arises from the language must be so great as to compel the court to seize upon extraneous circumstances to aid in reaching a conclusion. Where the meaning of a statute is plain, a contemporaneous or practical construction thereof will not be permitted to control, modify, destroy, abrogate, contradict, enlarge, or restrict that meaning.”

This court in two relatively recent cases considered administrative interpretations. In *Olsen Company v. State Tax Commission*, 109 *Utah* 563, 168 *P.* (2d) 324, on Page 332 of the Pacific Report, the court said:

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