1952

Ogden City v. Ferrell H. Adams : Brief of Defendant

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE WORDING OF SECTION 46-0-219 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1943, IS SO AMBIGUOUS AS TO REQUIRE STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION AND BY THE EXPRESS WORDS OF SAID SECTION IT IS NOT CLEAR THAT PLAINTIFF IS ENTITLED TO BE PAID THE FINES IN DEFENDANT'S HANDS.

Section 46-0-219 Utah Code Annotated 1943, reads as follows:

All fines and forfeitures levied under this act shall be paid to the state treasurer and credited to the general fund; *provided, however*, that in all cases where violations of this act are prosecuted to a conviction by the officer of any town, city or

county the judge of the court wherein such prosecution took place shall certify to the state treasurer that such prosecution was conducted by the officers of such town, city or county, and the state treasurer, on the written approval of the chairman of the commission, shall pay to said town, city or county all amounts collected as fines, forfeitures or costs as the result of such prosecution.

There are two phrases in the foregoing section which, we submit, are so ambiguous as to require statutory interpretation. The phrase "prosecuted to a conviction by the officer of any town, city or county" and the phrase "prosecution was conducted by the officers of such town, city or county" give rise to the ambiguity in Section 46-0-219 Utah Code Annotated 1943. There can be no doubt under the terms of the statute that all fines and forfeitures levied under the Liquor Control Act should be paid to the State Treasurer and credited to the general fund. It is only which fines should be returned to the towns, cities and counties by the State Treasurer that is not clearly spelled out. Plaintiff asserts that the defendant "refuses to agree that it [the statute] means what it says when it provides that "all" fines growing out of local prosecution (without restriction as to the court of origin) shall be repaid to the local unit." If Section 46-0-219 Utah Code Annotated 1943 made such a provision as the plaintiff asserts; i.e., that all fines growing out of local prosecutions should be returned to the local unit, this controversy would not and could not have arisen. It is only in "all cases where violations of this

Act are prosecuted to a conviction by the officer of any town, city or county * * *” that the fines and forfeitures shall be returned to the local unit. Had the Legislature intended to have all fines and forfeitures returned to the local subdivisions when the officers of the local units initiated the prosecution or appeared as witnesses in the criminal cases, or, if such officers were associated in the successful prosecution of the criminal cases, it would have been, we submit, a simple matter to so provide. The Legislature, however, did not so provide and therefore it must be determined what the intention of the Legislature was when it provided that fines should be returned “in all cases where violations of this Act are *prosecuted to a conviction* by the officer of any town, city or county.”

From a reading of certain sections of the Liquor Control Act it would appear that the Legislature intended that city attorneys would prosecute violations of the Liquor Control Act in the city courts. Section 46-0-206 provides in part:

If any district, county, city or town attorney, or any peace officer, or any other person has probable cause to believe that alcoholic beverages are possessed, manufactured, sold, bartered, given away or otherwise furnished in violation of this act, or are kept for the purpose of selling, bartering or giving away or otherwise furnishing the same in violation of law, it shall be the duty of such attorney, peace officer or person forthwith to make and file with the judge of the district

or city court, or any city, town or precinct justice of the peace, written information supported by his oath or affirmation that he has information and reason to believe that this act is being violated at a certain place, stating the facts within his knowledge; and he shall describe as particularly as may be the place, and the names of the persons, if known, participating in such unlawful act. * * *

The concluding sentence in the foregoing section provides:

Any peace officer who shall make a seizure of alcoholic beverages or any other property under the provisions of this act shall forthwith report in writing, on forms supplied by the commission, to the prosecuting attorney of the city or county in which such seizure was made, and also to the commission, with detailed information as to the property seized and persons arrested, and the address of the place from which such property was seized.

This section contemplates, at least, that the commencement of searches and seizures of property pursuant to the Liquor Control Act, can be initiated by a city or town attorney in a city court or before town or city justices of the peace. Section 46-0-210 Utah Code Annotated 1943, terminates the jurisdiction of the city court or justice of the peace when it appears that tangible personal property was seized by an officer and the city court or Justice of the peace must certify the record and all files to the District Court of the county in which the premises are situated for further proceedings.

Section 46-0-216 provides in part as follows:

“All inspectors appointed under this act, and all sheriffs, deputy sheriffs, mayors, city judges, justices of the peace, constables, marshals and peace officers, and all district county, *city and town attorneys*, and clerks of courts shall diligently enforce the provisions of this act. * * *

(Italics added).

and also

* * * *

“Immediately upon conviction of any person *in any town, city* or county for violation of any provisions of this Act, or for violation of any city ordinance relating to alcoholic beverages, it shall be the duty of the clerk of the court or the justice of the peace to notify the commission of such conviction, giving in writing full particulars of the case on forms supplied by the commission * * *.”

(Italics added).

The above quoted portions of Section 46-0-216 Utah Code Annotated 1943, would seem to indicate that the Legislature intended that city attorneys would prosecute violations of the provisions of the Liquor Control Act in the city courts, in which case the fines could be returned to the city.

Sections 46-0-247 and 248 impose the duty of enforcement of the Liquor Control Act on all city, prosecuting and peace officers. The Legislature, in these two sections, we submit, assume that a city prosecuting officer was different than a city peace officer.

While the foregoing quoted sections do not spell out a clear cut procedure insofar as city attorneys and city courts are concerned, we submit that the Legislature contemplated that the violations of the Liquor Control Act could be prosecuted by a city attorney and thus Section 46-0-219 is not a nullity as far as the cities and towns are concerned. The Legislature contemplated that control of the possession, sale and transportation of alcoholic beverages would be enforced by the Liquor Control Commission. Section 46-0-48(e) imposes such duty on the Liquor Control Commission and this fact is not altered by the abolition of the Liquor Commission's enforcement unit by executive fiat. The Legislature also imposed the duty of enforcement of the Liquor Control Act upon all city, county, precinct and state executive, prosecuting and peace officers. Plaintiff's assertion that the enforcement of criminal laws must be made financially worth while to legal subdivisions of the State, we submit, is without basis in reason, or in fact. All such officers are bound by the statutes and by their oaths of office to enforce the laws and to say that such local units must be reimbursed under Section 46-0-219 Utah Code Annotated 1943, in order to make them more enthusiastic about expending their money and time and efforts in Liquor Control activities is a fiction which this state should not, and cannot adopt.

Plaintiff asserts that the Legislature has set forth three controlling factors in the matter of remittance of fines and forfeitures: (1) Prosecution to a conviction by officers of a town, city or county; (2) Certification

of that fact to the State Treasurer by the Judge of the court wherein such prosecution took place; and (3) Written approval by the Chairman of the Liquor Commission of the remittance to the town, city or county of said fines and forfeitures. We think this is a fair interpretation of the statute. However, we submit that the Attorney General's opinion that fines imposed by the District Courts is only a test which the Attorney General advised the auditor to use in making his examinations, and that if a violation of the Liquor Control Act is prosecuted in a district court of the State of Utah that such prosecution cannot and is not "prosecuted to a conviction by the officers of a town, city or county.

The plaintiff asserts that the defendant admits that condition No. 2 has been complied with. Such, we submit, is not the case. The defendant in paragraph 4 of his Answer, denied that the several Judges of the Court wherein such prosecutions took place certified to the defendant that such prosecutions were conducted by the officers of Ogden City. The defendant alleged that the Judges of the District Court wherein the prosecutions took place executed certificates that the officers of Ogden City *assisted* in the successful prosecution of the cases and included as exhibits Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 copies of the said certificates.

It can, we believe, be fairly assumed that grave doubts existed in the minds of the various District Court Judges as to whether the officers of Ogden City did prosecute these cases to a conviction. The certificate

with regard to the initiating of the cases by officers of Ogden City, and with regard to the evidence being obtained by, and at the expense of Ogden City is a nullity under the plaintiff's theory of the case. Such certification as to these matters need not have been made. The only thing which the Court need certify to is "that such prosecution was conducted by the officers of said town, city or county * * *." We submit that the plaintiff must fail in this action if for no other reason than that the Certificate of the District Court Judges does not properly certify that the conviction was conducted by the officers of Ogden City. Such certificate, on its face, merely states that the officers of Ogden City assisted in the successful prosecution of the case and this, we submit, is not sufficient. Fundamentally, however, it will be of great assistance if the Court will decide the issue which was intended to be presented, and and give a judicial interpretation of the words "prosecuted to a conviction" and "prosecution was conducted by the officers of said town, city or county." It is submitted that the only practical interpretation which can be placed upon these words is the interpretation which the Attorney General arrived at in 1939 which is that if a violation of the Liquor Control Act is prosecuted in the District Court, that of necessity such prosecution was conducted by the District Attorney who is a state officer and not an officer of any town, city or county.

POINT II.

WHILE OPINIONS OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL ARE NOT CONTROLLING, THEY ARE ENTITLED TO GREAT RESPECT IN CONSTRUING AN AMBIGUOUS STATUTE.

Admittedly any opinion of the Attorney General, no matter of how long a standing, is not binding upon the Court. However, we submit that the Court should give great weight to the opinions of the Attorney General which in this case, have been consistently followed for a period in excess of thirteen years. The United States Circuit Court of Appeals in the case of *Badger v. Hoidale*, 88 F. (2d) 208, 109 ALR 798, considered the weight which should be given to an opinion of the attorney general with regard to the interpretation to be given an amendment to the Minnesota Constitution and held:

“* * * This opinion is, of course, not binding on this court, but it is entitled to great respect and should not be departed from lightly. *Standard Computing Scale Co. v. Farrell* (D.C.) 242 F. 87.”

The court further stated with regard to a statement of the attorney general concerning the amendment:

“This statement, furnished by the Attorney General in the performance of his public duty, is entitled to consideration. *Yosemite Lumber Co. v. Industrial Acc. Comm.*, 187 Cal. 774, 204 P. 226, 20 ALR 994; *Beneficial Loan Society v. Haight*, 215 Cal. 506, 11 P. (2d) 857; *Bearden v. Collins*, 220 Cal. 759, 32 P. (2d) 604.”

True it is that the opinions of the Attorney General do not cite any authority, and there was some uncertainty in the mind of the State Auditor when the opinions were written. However, in the last opinion of the Attorney

General, issued April 18, 1939, (Exhibit 9), the Attorney General stated:

“No payment may be made to a town, city or county under the provisions of said section 177 for the reason that the prosecuting officer of the town, city or county, appeared in the court to prosecute the case.”

The Attorney General took the view that where a prosecution was conducted in the district courts that the district attorney was prosecuting the case and that anyone appearing in the district court would be appearing on behalf of the district attorney. Such interpretation of the statute, we submit, gives various officials who must be guided by the statute a clean cut practical interpretation of the statute. The various court clerks, city, county and state auditors and the state treasurer must, of necessity, have some guide to follow. This, we submit, was what the Attorney General attempted to give them and that even though no authority was cited by the Attorney General, we submit that his reasoning was sound and should not be lightly overturned. A number of situations might be envisioned whereby the state treasurer or a judge having to decide the matter in order to make his certificate would be in grave doubt as to who prosecuted the case if the broad, liberal interpretation asserted by the plaintiff herein were followed; that is if the word “prosecuted” was intended by the Legislature to mean any assistance given to the district attorney in the prosecution of the case. For instance, if an inspector of the Liquor Control Commission requested the aid of city

peace officers and the county sheriff in conducting a raid on an establishment where it was known that liquor was being sold, it would then be necessary for all of the peace officers conducting the raid to appear as witnesses—as prosecuting witnesses—in conducting the prosecution to final conviction. Now, can it be said that the officer of any particular political subdivision conducted the prosecution to a conviction? We submit not. The only appropriate test which should be applied as to whether the fine shall be returned to the political subdivisions or not is to consider the Court in which such prosecutions took place, and to consider who in fact conducted the prosecution. Insofar as prosecutions in the district court, we submit that the district attorney by law and by custom is the one who conducts the prosecution to final conviction. Admittedly a situation might arise whereby the officers of a county could prosecute to final conviction in the district court, a violation of the Liquor Control Act. Such a situation might be where a sheriff of a county makes an arrest pursuant to the provisions of the Liquor Control Act, the county attorney conducts the preliminary hearing before the magistrate and then, at the request of the district attorney, prosecutes the violation to conviction. In such a situation, the fines or forfeitures collected in the case should properly be returned to the county.

In view of the broad duty imposed on city attorneys by provisions of the Liquor Control Act, it is submitted that a city attorney could, with permission of the county and district attorney prosecute to a conviction a viola-

tion of the Liquor Control Act both before the committing magistrate and on appeal, or trial in the district court. These situations have not, insofar as the record shows, ever arisen in the State of Utah and certainly at the time the former Attorney General wrote his opinion, he contemplated that all prosecutions for violations of the Liquor Control Act which were prosecuted in the district court would be under the direction of the district attorney. We submit, therefore, that the interpretation which should be given this statute, at least insofar as the district courts are concerned, is that unless it be made to appear by the certificate of the Judge of the District Court that the city attorney prosecuted the violation of the Liquor Control Act to a conviction in his court, that it must be assumed that the prosecution was conducted by the district attorney and the fines cannot be remitted to the city. This would be true even though city peace officers as distinguished from the city prosecuting officer appeared as a witness in the prosecution.

POINT III.

OGDEN CITY IS A CITY OF THE STATE OF UTAH AND AS SUCH HAS ACQUIESCED IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 46-0-219 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1943.

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